2010

Mark Kappos and Mala Kappos v. The State of Utah, Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

As provided by statute, the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the district court err in determining that the UDOT notice of interest was not a lien on Appellants' real property? Did the district court err in ruling that the notice of interest was not a wrongful lien? Did the district court err in ruling that Appellants cannot recover damages from UDOT? Did the district court err in finding that the State of Utah is immune from suit? Did the district court err in dismissing Appellants' claims based upon bona fide purchaser? Did the district court err in not addressing Appellants' constitutional claims?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard for review for this matter is that the appellate court should give no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law and review the legal conclusions reached by the trial court for correctness. See, Kenny v. Rich, 186 P.3d 989, 997 (Utah App. 2008) Findings of fact are set aside if they are found to be clearly erroneous by the appellate court. See, Ockey v. Lehmer 189 P.3d 51, 59-60 (Utah 2008).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS WHOSE INTERPRETATION ARE DETERMINATIVE

None.

STATUTES WHOSE INTERPRETATIONS ARE DETERMINATIVE

Utah Code Annotated § 57-3-103

Each document not recorded as provided in this title is void as against any subsequent purchaser of the same real property, or any portion of it, if: (1) the subsequent purchaser purchased the property in good faith and for valuable consideration; and (2) the subsequent purchaser's document is first duly recorded.

Utah Code Annotated § 38-9-1(2)

“Lien claimant” means a person claiming an interest in real property who offers a document for recording or filing with any county recorder in the state asserting a lien or other claim of interest in certain real property.

Utah Code Annotated § 38-9-1(6)

“Wrongful lien” means any document that purports to create a lien or encumbrance on an owner's interest in certain real property and at the time it is recorded or filed is not:

- (a) expressly authorized by this chapter or another state or federal statute;
- (b) authorized by or contained in an order or judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction in the state; or
- (c) signed by or authorized pursuant to a document signed by the owner of the real property.

Utah Code Annotated § 38-9-4(1)

A lien claimant who records or files or causes a wrongful lien as defined in Section 38-9-1 to be recorded or filed in the office of the county recorder against real property is liable to a record interest holder for any actual damages proximately caused by the wrongful lien.

Utah Code Annotated § 78-40-1

Action to determine adverse claim to property – Authorized. An action may be brought by any person against another who claims an estate or interest in real property or an interest or claim to personal property adverse to him, for the purpose of determining such adverse claim.

Utah Code Annotated § 78-40-2

Lis pendens. In any action affecting the title to, or the right of possession of, real property the plaintiff at the time of filing the complaint or thereafter, and the defendant at the time of filing his answer when affirmative relief is claimed in such answer, or at any item afterward, may file for record with the recorder of the county in which the property or some part thereof is situated a notice of the pendency of the action, containing the names of the parties, the object of the action or defense, and a description of the property in that county affected thereby. From the time of filing such notice for record only shall a purchaser or encumbrancer of the property affected thereby be deemed to have constructive notice of the pendency of the action, and have constructive notice of the pendency of the action, and only of its pendency against parties designated by their real names.

Utah Code Annotated § 63-30d-201 *et seq* (2006)

Due to the length of this statute it is included in Appendix 9 hereto.

Utah Code Annotated § 63-30d-301 *et seq* (2006)

Due to the length of this statute it is included in Appendix 9 hereto.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When Appellants were attempting to sell their real property in Uintah, Utah during calendar year 2006, they became informed that UDOT claimed an interest in their property by virtue of an old condemnation order dated January 28, 1974. In furtherance of its claim, UDOT recorded a notice of interest on the Kappos residential property on January 19, 2006. Because the Kapposes obtained title to the subject property from was a bona fide purchaser for value, the State had no valid claim on their property and should not have recorded a notice of interest. The notice of interest recorded by UDOT wholly

prevented them from selling their property. The purpose of this action is for Appellants to seek damages from UDOT for its wrongful notice of interest.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The property which is the subject matter of this appeal is owned by Mark and Mala Kappos and is located at 1577 East 6850 South, Uintah, Weber County, Utah (“the subject property”). R. 204.

2. The subject property includes two parcels: Parcel Number 07-540-0002 (hereinafter referred sometimes as “the home lot”) and 07-107-0026 (parcel behind lot and next to Weber River hereinafter references sometimes as “the river parcel”). The home lot and the river parcel are both owned by Appellants. R. 204-05. See also, Appendix “1” which shows plat map generated by Weber County which demonstrate the location of these two parcels.

3. On or about November 15, 2005 the Kapposes listed their property for sale with Coldwell Banker, a real estate brokerage. R. 131, Affidavit of Mala Kappos ¶7.

4. UDOT recorded a notice of interest as of January 19, 2006 on both of the above properties owed by Appellants. R. 217-18. See also Appendix “2”.

5. After attempting to sell their property, the Kapposes were informed through an agent of UDOT that they could not sell their property because of an alleged prior eminent domain proceeding. R. 131.

6. At that same time the Kapposes were informed that on January 16, 2003, the State of Utah Department of Transportation recorded a final order of condemnation

dated January 28, 1974. R. 131-32.

7. The Kapposes became unable to sell their property to anyone because of the notice of interest recorded by the State of Utah two months after listing their property for sale. R. 132-33, Affidavit of Mala Kappos paragraphs 10 through 17. Also, R. 144, Affidavit of Shauna Larsen.

8. UDOT has failed to set forth a sufficient reason for asserting the notice of interest on the property of the Appellants. R. 205.

9. UDOT did not record a similar notice on any of the Appellants' neighbors who had the same chain of title. R. 826-33 and R. 210-11.

10. Prior to the above course of events, Appellants had purchased the home lot from Ed Green Construction, Inc. with a recording date of August 9, 2001. R. 185, Affidavit of Ed Green ¶ 11 and R. 822.

11. Ed Green Construction, Inc. previously acquired title to the Kappos home lot from Edwin Higley with a recording date of June 1, 2000. R. 185, Affidavit of Ed Green ¶ 8, also R. 817-18.

12. With a recording date of August 26, 2002, the Kapposes received title to the river parcel from Ed Green. R. 185, Affidavit of Ed Green ¶ 12 and R. 824.

13. Ed Green previously acquired title to the river parcel from Edwin Higley with a recording date of May 10, 2000. R. 185, Affidavit of Ed Green ¶ 9 and R. 820.

14. Ed Green paid \$175,000.00 to Edwin Higley for the purchase of the subject parcels. R. 185-86, Affidavit of Ed Green ¶ 7, and R. 848.

15. Ed Green had no knowledge of a prior conveyance of the subject property

by Edwin Higley to the State of Utah. R. 185-86, Affidavit of Ed Green ¶ 15, and R. 329.

16. The recording of the above condemnation order took place approximately 29 years after the condemnation allegedly took place. R. 220-26.

17. As a result of the notice of interest recorded on January 19, 2006, The Kapposes were unable to sell the property, have been unable to re-finance the property, and have been unable to access any of their equity in the property. R. 131-32, Affidavit of Mala Kappos ¶¶ 10-11.

18. In March 2007, Appellants received an offer to purchase the property from Mark and Kimberly Lyon for the amount of \$740,000.00. R. 776-90.

19. Because the Kapposes could not convey free and clear title to said property, the sale failed to close. R. 769-70, Affidavit of Mark Kappos ¶¶ 7-9.

20. Since the recording of the notice of interest, the fair market value of the property dropped drastically to \$500,000.00. R. 770, Affidavit of Mark Kappos ¶ 9.

21. Appellants had planned on using some of their home equity to invest. Had their equity been accessible to them and but for UDOT's notice of interest, they would have realized approximately \$240,000 in additional value. Instead, that has now been lost due to the State's actions. R. 768-70, Affidavit of Mark Kappos ¶¶ 7-9.

22. It was not until July 16, 2008 that the State of Utah released its notice of interest on the property. R. 761, Withdrawal of notice of interest.

23. Based upon the above facts, the following is a historical timeline set forth for visual reference.

Historical Timeline

| January 28 1974 | February 25 1974 | May 10 2000 | June 1 2000 | August 9 2001 | August 26 2002 | January 16 2003 | January 19 2006 | 2007 | July 2008 |
|--------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------|
| Condemnation Judgment against Higley | Judgment recorded Davis County only | Higley Conveyance to Green river parcel | Higley Conveyance to Green home parcel | Green Conveyance to Kappos home parcel | Green Conveyance to Kappos river parcel | Condemnation Judgment recorded in Weber County | Notice of Interest recorded by UDOT | Kapposes sale to Lyons fell through | Notice of Interest released by UDOT |

24. Based upon the above facts, the following is the chain of title for the respective parties:

Kappos Chain of Title (Based Upon the Home Lot)

Ed Higley to Ed Green Construction, Inc.



Ed Green Construction, Inc. to Kappos

Date of Deed: June 1, 2000

Recording Date: June 1, 2000

Date of Deed: August 8, 2001

Recording Date: August 9, 2001

UDOT's Chain of Title

Ed Higley to UDOT

Date of Order: January 19, 1974

Recording Date: January 16, 2003

SUMMARY OF APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT

Because UDOT failed to timely record its interest in the subject property, it had no valid basis to subsequently record a notice of interest regarding the Kappos property on January 19, 2006. The district court erred in determining that the UDOT notice of interest was not a lien on Appellants' property. The district court erred in ruling that the

notice of interest was not a wrongful lien. The district court erred in ruling that appellants cannot recover damages from UDOT. The Utah Governmental Immunity Act does not give UDOT immunity from this suit. The district court erred in granting UDOT's motion to dismiss the appellants' quiet title bona fide purchaser claim. The district court erred in not addressing appellants' constitutional claims.

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE UDOT FAILED TO TIMELY RECORD ITS INTEREST IN THE SUBJECT PROPERTY, IT HAD NO VALID BASIS TO SUBSEQUENTLY RECORD A NOTICE OF INTEREST ON THE KAPPOS PROPERTY ON JANUARY 19, 2006.

The result of the above-mentioned facts was that both UDOT and Ed Green had received conveyances from Edwin Higley for transfer of the same real property. UDOT believed that it had acquired the subject property from Edwin Higley. Moreover, Ed Green believed that he acquired title to the same property from Edwin Higley. Both grantees appeared to have valid conveyances. The answer to the question of who has the superior claim to the title of real property in this situation is answered by Utah Code Annotated § 57-3-103 which provides as follows:

Each document not recorded as provided in this title is void as against any subsequent purchaser of the same real property, or any portion of it, if: (1) the subsequent purchaser purchased the property in good faith and for valuable consideration; and (2) the subsequent purchaser's document is first duly recorded.

Therefore, in Utah, the grantee who records its deed first obtains paramount title if he purchased in good faith. Based upon the above statute, there is a two part analysis. Under Utah Code Annotated § 57-3-103 it should first be determined who recorded their deed first and second it is determined whether or not the subsequent purchaser recorded their deed in good faith.

With regard to the first question, it is undisputed that Ed Green and Ed Green Construction, Inc. recorded their deeds prior to the recording of the condemnation judgment in favor of UDOT. Ed Green Construction, Inc. recorded his conveyance of the home lot which he had obtained from Ed Higley on June 1, 2000 with the Weber County Recorder. R. 196-97. Ed Green previously acquired title from Ed Higley with regard to the river parcel and recorded his deed on May 10, 2000. R. 199. Ed Green then conveyed the home lot to Appellants as of a recording dated August 9, 2001 and the river parcel to the Appellants on August 26, 2002. R. 201-03. By contrast, UDOT waited to record its January 28, 1974 judgment that it had obtained from Ed Higley until January 16, 2003. R. 313-32 and R. 222-26. The recording of the above condemnation order took place approximately 29 years after the condemnation had allegedly occurred. But it is clear that Ed Green recorded his deeds to the same property prior to the recording of any interest which UDOT had claimed.

The next inquiry according to Utah Code Annotated § 57-3-103 is whether or not the subsequent purchaser (Ed Green) purchased the property in good faith and for a valuable consideration. Ed Green had no knowledge of any prior conveyance of the subject property by Edwin Higley to the State of Utah. R. 185-86. A copy of the Real Estate Purchase Contract shows the consideration paid by Ed Green to Ed Higley is a part of the record (\$175,000.00). R. 848 and R. 189-95. Interestingly, UDOT only recorded a notice of interest on Lot 2 of the subdivision and not on any of the other lots even though the condemnation order was recorded against those lots as well. R. 210-11. The same situation existed for all of the lots in the subdivision because Ed Higley had conveyed a

much larger parcel through the condemnation procedure to UDOT than what was individually conveyed to each of the lot owners in the subdivision.

It is undisputed that Ed Green paid valuable consideration for the purchase of the property from Ed Higley and that he had no knowledge of any alleged prior sale between Higley and the State of Utah. R. 185-86. As a result, he obtained bona fide purchaser status. The overwhelming weight of authority on this issue is that once a bona fide purchaser takes title to property he can pass it to the whole world free of the claims of the alleged first purchaser. See, case law from Utah's sister states including W.W. Planning, Inc. v. Clark, 456 P.2d 406 (Ariz. App. 1969) (ruling that a bona fide purchaser can deliver good title to a grantee even if that grantee has notice of a prior adverse equity); First Interstate Bank of Sheridan v. First Wyoming Bank, 762 P.2d 379 (Wyo. 1988) (holding that a bona fide purchaser may sell or convey property to persons who will then receive protections as a bona fide purchaser.); Sun Valley Land and Minerals, Inc. v. Burt, 853 P.2d 607 (Idaho App. 1993) (one who purchases with knowledge of a defect enjoys the same protection as the person from whom he purchased the property); Bailey v. Butner, 176 P.2d 226 (Nev. 1947) (finding that a subsequent purchaser from a bona fide purchaser enjoys bona fide purchaser protection status). See also, Summary of Utah Real Property Law, vol. 1, page 87, § 2.42 (BYU 1978). Thus, the Kapposes obtained title to the subject property from a bona fide purchaser, Ed Green.

Based upon the foregoing, the State of Utah never had a claim to the subject properties after Ed Green recorded his deeds from Ed Higley on May 10, 2000 and June 1, 2000 because UDOT failed to record its 1974 condemnation order in Weber County

prior to the recording of the property sales to Ed Green and Ed Green Construction, Inc., in the year 2000. Therefore, UDOT has no claim whatsoever to the subject property. UDOT lost that claim when Ed Higley recorded his deeds in May 2000 and June 2000 respectively.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE UDOT NOTICE OF INTEREST WAS NOT A LIEN ON APPELLANTS' PROPERTY.

Appellants presented the above issues to the District Court by way of a motion for partial summary judgment. At the same time, the District Court considered UDOT's motion to dismiss. On or about June 15, 2007 the Second District Court issued a ruling entitled Ruling, Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment. R. 328-42 (which is also attached hereto as Appendix 3). The District Court set out elements to qualify for relief under the wrongful lien statute stating that a property owner must show that, "(a) the document at issue purports to create a lien or encumbrance; (b) the lien was "wrongful" as defined by the Act; and (c) the lien the wrongful at the time it was filed." R. 332.

"The documents that were filed in this case do not purport to establish a lien or encumbrance as defined by the wrongful lien statutes. A lien is defined as "a legal right or interest that a creditor has in another property lasting usually until a debt or duty that it secures is satisfied." Black's Law Dictionary 941(7th Ed. 2004). An encumbrance is defined as "any interest in a third person consistent with a title in fee in the grantee, if such outstanding interest injuriously affects the value of the property." Hancock v. Planned Dev. Corp., 791 P.2d 183, 186 (Utah 1990). UDOT does not allege that it is a creditor, and it asserts an ownership interest in the property – an interest which is inconsistent with title in fee in the grantee. Therefore, UDOT has not filed a lien or encumbrance." R. 332-33.

In summary, the District Court concluded that the notice of interest recorded by UDOT on Appellants' property was not a lien or encumbrance.

The standard of review which the Court should use in determining whether or not the District Court's legal conclusion on this issue is appropriate is the correctness standard. See, Kenny v. Rich, 186 P.3d 989, 997 (Utah App. 2008). The above case sets forth that the appellate court should give no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law and review the legal conclusions reached by the trial court for correctness. The legal conclusion that UDOT's notice of interest is not a lien or encumbrance is completely incorrect. The language of the notice of interest recorded by UDOT is "the undersigned, Utah Department of Transportation, State of Utah, does hereby assert and claim an interest in and to the following described property: [Both of Appellants parcels]." See, Appendix 2. The State of Utah had already recorded its Order of Condemnation on January 16, 2003 and therefore the recording of the notice of interest went outside the scope of the recording of the Order of Condemnation. Moreover, the effect of the recording of the notice of interest by UDOT defeated Appellants' attempts to sell the subject property. R. 132-33, R. 144, and R. 369-70.

As a result of the notice of interest recorded by UDOT, the Kapposes could not sell their property, could not access the equity in their property and could not do anything whatsoever with the title thereto. The State of Utah should not be engaging in this type of conduct – recording baseless notices of interest on property of its citizens. The conduct of the State of Utah to record a notice of interest when UDOT had lost any rights

of the property whatsoever pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 57-3-103 is blatantly wrong. UDOT knew what it was doing when it recorded the notice of interest on the Appellants' property and clearly made the calculated decision to record it only against the Appellants' property and not against any other property of any other lot owner in the same subdivision who had the same chain of title. R. 210-11. The conduct was specifically targeted at Appellants and has no basis whatsoever. Although all of the other owners identified on the plat Appendix 1 had the same chain of title through Ed Higley and Ed Green, UDOT did not record a notice of interest on their properties--just the Kapposes. R. 826-33. Any analysis of the situation would show that UDOT had lost any claim to the subject property by failing to record earlier than Ed Green's deeds from Ed Higley. Moreover, the statutory and case law concerning bona fide purchaser status is abundantly clear on this issue and UDOT should not have engaged in this conduct by virtue thereof.

The District Court made a legal determination that the notice of interest did not constitute a lien or encumbrance. This legal conclusion is erroneous and this Court should correct that legal conclusion and direct the District Court to find that the notice of interest was a lien or encumbrance recorded by UDOT against the Appellants' property.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE NOTICE OF INTEREST WAS NOT A WRONGFUL LIEN.

The notice of interest was clearly intended by the State of Utah to prevent Appellants from selling their property or doing anything with it. That result was achieved by UDOT in preventing Appellants from selling their property. R. 769-70.

Because the final condemnation order of January 19, 1974 is of no effect as to the subject properties owned by the Kapposes, the notice of interest upon which the final condemnation order is based, is a wrongful lien. A notice of interest is in violation of Utah law. See, Russell v. Thomas, 999 P.2d 1244 (Utah App. 2000).

In Russell, the parties entered into a contract requiring the buyer to pay the seller more than \$500,000.00 for its interest in real property which included payment of certain amounts for lots to be developed and that a note would be secured by a trust deed and trust deed note to be recorded after closing of the construction loan and escrow arrangements were made. At no time did the real property owner in Russell convey to the lien claimant an interest in any of the lots. Notwithstanding, the claimant filed a notice of interest with the county recorder and the property owner filed a petition to clear title arguing that the Defendants had no legitimate legal claim to an interest in the properties and no contractual or legal right to file a so called “notice of interest”. The Russell court agreed with the property owner and the issue went up on appeal. The Court of Appeals noted that the trial court engaged in summary proceedings as provided an Utah Code Annotated § 38-9-1 *et seq.* The court stated “to file a notice of interest the person must minimally claim to have an interest in the land.” Id. at 1247. The Russell court further stated that in order to determine whether a document conveys an interest in land, the court should look at the agreement between the parties. The court found that the agreement in question did not purport to convey an interest in land but was nothing more than a promise to do so at a later time. The appellate court concluded that the Defendants did not have an interest in the property, that the notice of interest could not be authorized

under Utah Code Annotated § 57-9-4, and was therefore not exempted from the wrongful lien definition. Accordingly, the Russell court found that the notice of interest was a wrongful lien and that the Plaintiff was entitled to summary relief pursuant to the Utah Code Annotated § 38-9-7.

Similarly in this case, there are no grounds for a notice of interest being recorded on the Kappos property and said document constitutes a wrongful lien under Utah Code Annotated § 38-9-1 and § 38-9-4. The order of condemnation was recorded approximately 29 years late and did not grant any rights to the State of Utah by virtue of its being recorded after a recording by a subsequent bona fide purchaser of the real property. Moreover, because the notice of interest is based upon the 1974 condemnation order, it violates Utah Code Annotated § 57-3-103. Based upon the foregoing, the notice of interest recorded by the State of Utah Department of Transportation on January 19, 2006 was clearly a wrongful lien. Appellants should be entitled to recover all of their damages under the wrongful lien section of Utah Code Annotated § 38-9-1 *et seq.*

Utah Code Annotated § 38-9-1 as it existed at the time of the Court's decision states, "wrongful lien" means:

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