2010

Mark Kappos and Mala Kappos v. The State of Utah, Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs' April 27, 2010 notice of appeal is untimely to obtain review of any of the district court's rulings on the merits of their complaint. The only decision within thirty days of the notice was the court's denial of plaintiffs' motion to amend or reinstate their complaint. While the motion was nominally brought under Utah R. Civ. P. 59(e), which would toll the time for appeal, Rule 59(e) governs motions to alter or amend a judgment, not a complaint. As the district court correctly ruled, once a case is adjudicated

to finality, regardless of whether a dismissal is with or without prejudice, a complaint cannot be amended. Because plaintiffs' motion to amend was not, in substance, a Rule 59(e) motion, it cannot support review of the district court's determinations on the merits.

Even if the Court were to conclude that it had jurisdiction over the district court's substantive decisions, plaintiffs' arguments are without merit. This Court has unequivocally held that a notice of interest based on an existing property interest is not a wrongful lien. Because plaintiffs' damages claim, by their own admission, was based on the wrongful lien statutes, the district court correctly dismissed it. Moreover, UDOT was clearly within its right to file a notice of interest based on the 1974 condemnation judgment. But the Court need not—indeed, should not—reach these issues in light of plaintiffs' failure to file their notice of appeal within thirty days of any decision but their untimely motion to amend or reinstate their complaint, miscaptioned as a Rule 59(e) motion.

ARGUMENT

I. THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IS UNTIMELY AS TO THE DISTRICT COURT'S RULINGS ON THE MERITS OF PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS

The time for taking an appeal is spelled out in Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Under Rule 4(a), an appeal "shall be filed with the clerk of the trial court within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from." In this case, the final order dismissing the last issue between the parties was entered on

January 6, 2010. Plaintiffs' April 27, 2010 notice of appeal was untimely as to the district court's final order.

Subsection (b) of the rule extends the time for appeal when certain postjudgment motions are filed. Plaintiffs characterized their postjudgment motion to amend or reinstate their constitutional takings claims as brought under Utah R. Civ. P. 59(e). Rule 59(e) permits the filing of a motion to alter or amend the judgment within ten days after entry of the judgment. Plaintiffs' motion was, in fact, filed only two days after the district court entered its final order of dismissal. However, the motion did not, in substance, seek to alter or amend the judgment; instead, it sought to amend or reinstate the complaint under Utah R. Civ. P. 15. *See* R. 1014. Such a use of Rule 59(e) is impermissible.

Utah's appellate courts have repeatedly held that after a final adjudication, a plaintiff may not file an amended complaint. The Utah Supreme Court addressed the issue in *Steiner v. State*, 27 Utah 2d 284, 495 P.2d 809 (1972). In *Steiner*, after the trial court granted the State's motion to dismiss, the plaintiffs neither took an appeal nor moved to alter or amend the judgment, but attempted to file an amended complaint one year later. The supreme court concluded that "even though the dismissal was without prejudice[,] that order was a final adjudication and did not authorize the plaintiffs to file an amended complaint in these proceedings." *Steiner*, 495 P.2d at 810. In *Nichols v. State*, the Court revisited the issue and, citing to *Steiner*, emphasized that "Utah has adopted the majority rule that an order of dismissal is a final adjudication, and thereafter, a plaintiff may not file an amended complaint. After an order of dismissal, the plaintiff

must move under Rules 59(e) or 60(b) to reopen the judgment." *Nichols*, 554 P.2d 231, 232 (Utah 1976) (footnote omitted). This Court has ruled similarly. In *Suarez v. Friel*, 2005 UT App 396, 2005 WL 2303797, the Court considered an inmate's due process challenge to an original parole grant hearing. Citing *Nichols*, the Court observed that the district court had properly denied Suarez's postjudgment motion to amend his petition after entry of an order of dismissal but without moving to reopen the judgment. *Suarez*, 2005 UT App 396 at *1 n.1.

Although plaintiffs' motion to amend or reinstate the complaint nominally invoked Rule 59(e), the purpose of the motion, as shown in plaintiffs' supporting memorandum, was to revive the claims already dismissed and interject new claims. *See* R. 1017 ("The grounds for constitutional claims by Plaintiffs against Defendants are that Defendants (the State of Utah) violated the constitutional takings clauses of the Utah and federal constitutions as well as other constitutional rights" by recording a notice of interest on the property). Under *Steiner* and *Nichols*, this is not an appropriate use of the rule. *See also Glasscock v. State*, 2003 UT App 254 at *1, 2003 WL 21664764 ("In determining whether a motion is a rule 59(e) motion, the substance of the motion, not its caption, is controlling."). Because the substance of plaintiffs' motion, amendment of their complaint, is not contemplated by Rule 59(e) or any other postjudgment motion that would toll the time for appeal, the decision denying the motion cannot serve as the trigger for a notice of appeal as to merits long since decided.

Moreover, as plaintiffs conceded in their reply memorandum to UDOT's Motion for Summary Disposition, even if the motion were properly taken, "it is entirely within the Court's discretion" whether to reinstate the takings claims. R. 1039. *See also Turville v. J & J Props., L.C.*, 2006 UT App 305, ¶ 30, 145 P.3d 1146 (concluding that even "where a party moves for leave to amend after an interlocutory dismissal [rather than, as here, after a final order of dismissal], a trial court may exercise its discretion in determining whether to grant the motion."). Here, however, the district court correctly ruled that its "final adjudication prevents Plaintiffs' already dismissed Complaint from being amended or from having their already dismissed constitutional takings claim reinstated." R. 1177.

Plaintiffs could have taken a timely appeal from the district court's final order. They cannot use a miscaptioned motion to extend the time to appeal from the court's substantive decision and to breathe new life into claims that have been fully adjudicated and a complaint that has been dismissed. The district court correctly denied the motion in compliance with binding precedent, and there are no grounds on which to reverse its decision.

II. ALL OF PLAINTIFFS' SUBSTANTIVE CLAIMS FAIL BECAUSE UDOT'S NOTICE OF INTEREST WAS NOT A WRONGFUL LIEN

Each of plaintiffs' issues on appeal depends in some manner on establishing that UDOT's notice of interest constituted a wrongful lien against plaintiffs' property. But, as

the district court correctly concluded, the notice of interest does not meet the definition of a lien or encumbrance, let alone a wrongful one:

A lien is defined as "a legal right or interest that a creditor has in another's property lasting usually until a debt or duty that it secures is satisfied." Black's Law Dictionary 941 (7th ed. 2004). An encumbrance is defined as "any interest in a third person consistent with a title in fee in the grantee, if such outstanding interest injuriously affects the value of the property." Hancock v. Planned Dev. Corp., 791 P.2d 183, 186 (Utah 1990). UDOT does not allege that it is a creditor, and it asserts an ownership interest in the property—an interest which is inconsistent with title in fee in the grantee. Therefore, UDOT has not filed a lien or encumbrance.

R. 333.

The district court's determination is supported by both statute and case law. As the court observed, under Utah Code Ann. § 38-9-1(6)(b) (West 2004), a document is not a wrongful lien if it is "authorized by or contained in an order or judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction in the state[.]" R. 333. At the time UDOT's notice of interest was filed, there were competing claims to the property—claims that had not been resolved. For example, while plaintiffs asserted that their title was superior because their interest was recorded before UDOT's and they were bona fide purchasers for value, the issue of their bona fide status was unproven and, as the court remarked, it was plausible that they would be unable to prove it, rendering their claim of title invalid. R. 334. Consequently, the notice of interest was authorized by the condemnation judgment and cannot be a wrongful lien.

This Court has held that a notice of interest does not constitute a wrongful lien when based on an existing property right, even if that right is subject to total divestment.

Birch v. Myers concerned an estate proceeding in which the trial court ruled that proceeds from the sale of the decedent's home belonged to a revocable living trust. The trial court held that a notice of interest filed by one of the decedent's heirs, who held a future interest in the property, was a wrongful lien. This Court reversed the trial court on that point, noting that

[t]he Utah Code specifically provides that "[a]ny person claiming an interest in land may preserve and keep effective such interest by filing [a notice of interest]," Utah Code Ann. § 57-9-4(1) (2000), and we do not see that this or any other section limits the filing of notices to protect only certain categories or quanta of interests.

2009 UT App 180 at ¶ 2 (alterations in original). The Court concluded that the heirs' future interest in the property, even if subject to total divestment, was an existing interest from the time of its creation, and was "future" only in the sense that its possession or enjoyment was to take place at a future time. *Id.* UDOT's notice of interest in the present case, like the notice in *Birch*, does no more than preserve an existing interest—one that may be subject to divestment by an earlier-recorded deed—until it can be properly adjudicated. Under *Birch*, there is nothing wrongful about UDOT's recorded notice.

Russell v. Thomas, cited by plaintiffs, is distinguishable on its facts. The dispute in *Russell* centered on an agreement between the parties for the sale of certain real property. The court observed that "the Agreement does not purport to convey an interest in land, but is nothing more than a promise to do so at a later time." *Russell v. Thomas*, 2000 UT App 82, ¶ 14, 999 P.2d 1244. In contrast to the present case, the Court in *Russell* explicitly found that "[n]o order or judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction

authorizing such action is in existence." *Id.* at ¶ 6. Because the defendant in *Russell*, unlike UDOT in this case, held no interest in the property, the Court held his notice of interest on the property to be a wrongful lien.

Plaintiffs' claim for damages fares no better. Plaintiffs state that they "relied upon Utah Code Annotated § 38-9-1 *et seq.* to claim damages as against UDOT[,]" and explicitly disclaim any reliance on the statutes governing quiet title actions. Aplt. Brief at 10. But because, as the district court correctly ruled, the notice of interest is not a wrongful lien under section 38-9-1, there is no basis for the damages plaintiffs seek.

Finally, even if plaintiffs' damages claim, contrary to their own representation, had been based on a quiet title theory, their invocation of Utah's Governmental Immunity Act (GIA) is unavailing. While Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-301(2)(b) (West 2009) waives immunity for actions "brought to foreclose mortgages or other liens on real or personal property, to determine any adverse claim on real or personal property, or to obtain an adjudication about any mortgage or other lien that the government entity may have or claim on real or personal property[,]" plaintiffs' failure to establish that UDOT's notice of interest constitutes a lien is fatal to their cause of action under a quiet title theory.

Additionally, UDOT's withdrawal of the notice in 2008 moots any issue as to an adverse claim on the property. "Generally, the resolution of substantive issues renders an appeal moot. As we have previously stated, 'when the requested relief cannot affect the rights of the litigants,' we deem the case moot." *Salt Lake City v. Tax Comm'n of Utah*, 813 P.2d 1174, 1177 (Utah 1991) (quoting *Burkett v. Schwendiman*, 773 P.2d 42, 44 (Utah 1989))

(internal citation omitted). Even assuming, for the purpose of this argument only, that the district court incorrectly ruled that the GIA immunizes UDOT from damages for the allegedly wrongful lien, any error in that ruling would be irrelevant to the outcome: that plaintiffs are not entitled to damages because the notice of interest was not a lien at all.